

D1.1 - Technological Requirements for Digital Conservation Missions

WP1, T1.1 Initial methods and field experiments for DCs 1-4 & 8

[Version 1.0 - 28/03/2024]

Authors: Blair Costelloe (MPG); Elena Iannino (MPG); Kasper Hlebowicz (WU); Camille Rondeau Saint-Jean (SDU); Lucie Laporte-Dewylder (WIP)



Disclaimer

The content of this deliverable reflects only the author's view. Neither the Research Executive Agency (REA) nor the European Commission is responsible for any use that may be made of the information it contains.

Copyright Notice

©2023 WildDrone Consortium Partners. All rights reserved. WildDrone is an MSCA Doctoral Network funded by the European Union's Horizon Europe research and innovation funding programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no. 101071224. For more information on the project, its partners, and contributors, please see the WildDrone website (www.wilddrone.eu). You are permitted to copy and distribute verbatim copies of this document, containing this copyright notice, but modifying this document is not allowed. All contents are reserved by default and may not be disclosed to third parties without the written consent of the WildDrone partners, except as mandated by the REA contract, for reviewing and dissemination purposes. All trademarks and other rights on third party products mentioned in this document are acknowledged and owned by the respective holders. The information contained in this document represents the views of WildDrone members as of the date they are published. The WildDrone consortium does not guarantee that any information contained herein is e-free, or up to date, nor makes warranties, express, implied, or statutory, by publishing this document.



Technical References

Grant Agreement n°	101071224
Project Acronym	WildDrone
Project Title	Autonomous Drones for Nature Conservation Missions
Project Coordinator	Ulrik Pagh Schultz Lundquist, Professor University of Southern Denmark ups@mmmi.sdu.dk
Project Duration	January 2023 - December 2026

Deliverable No.	D1.1				
Dissemination level*	Public				
Work Package	WP1 - Automated Wildlife Tracking for Nature Conservation Practice				
Task	T1.1 - Initial methods and field experiments for DCs 1-4 & 8				
Lead beneficiary	Max-Planck-Gesellschaft zur Forderung der Wissenschaften EV				
Contributing beneficiary/ies	Syddansk Universitet, Wipsea, Wageningen University, Universitat Konstanz				
Contributing beneficiary/ies Due date of deliverable	Syddansk Universitet, Wipsea, Wageningen University, Universitat Konstanz 31/03/2024				

v	Date	Author(s)	Reviewers	Comments
0.1	26/03/2024	Blair Costelloe	-	Report writing
1.0	28/03/2024	-	E. Pastucha	Minor edits



Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	6
1. INTRODUCTION	7
 PURPOSE, SCOPE, AND TARGET GROUP CONTRIBUTING PARTNERS RELATION TO OTHER ACTIVITIES IN THE PROJECT 	
 DELAYS AND OBSTACLES POTENTIAL FOR DISSEMINATION, EXPLOITATION, AND COMMUNICATION ACTIVITIES ETHICAL AND SECURITY CONSIDERATIONS 	/
2. TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS FOR THEME 2 AND THEME 3 DC PROJECTS	9
2.1. DC5 - VTOL DRONE NOISE PROFILE OPTIMIZATION AND ITS IMPACT ON ANIMAL BEHAV 2.1.1. Current approach and limitations 2.1.2. Technical requirements for innovation	/IOUR
2.2. DC6 - AUTOMATED PLANNING OF SAFE, MULTI-DRONE NATURE CONSERVATION MISSIC 2.2.1. Current approach and limitations 2.2.2. Technical requirements for innovation	DNS11
 2.3. DC7 - SAFE BVLOS OPERATIONS OF DRONES FOR NATURE CONSERVATION 2.3.1. Current approach and limitations 2.3.2. Technical requirements for innovation 2.4. DC9. DEFECTING DOCTURE METRICS AND DIOMETRICS OF ANIMALS FROM DRONE DATA 	
2.4. DC9 - DETECTING POSTURE, METRICS AND BIOMETRICS OF ANIMALS FROM DRONE DA 2.4.1. Current approach and limitations 2.4.2. Technical requirements for innovation	13
2.5. DC10 - RECONSTRUCTING NATURAL HABITATS FROM MULTIMODAL DRONE MEASUREM 2.5.1. Current approach and limitations 2.5.2. Technical requirements for innovation	15
2.6. DCTT - INTERACTIVE CENSUS MONITORING: THE ACCURATE, THE GENERIC, AND THE R 2.6.1. Current approach and limitations 2.6.2. Technical requirements for innovation	4RE
2.7. DC12 - ADAPTIVE TRACKING FOR DETECTION AND IDENTIFICATION 2.7.1. Current approach and limitations 2.7.2. Technical requirements for innovation	
2.8.1. Current approach and limitations 2.8.2. Technical requirements for innovation	
3. CONCLUSIONS	21
4. REFERENCES	

List of Tables

Table 1: Contribution of partners	
Table 2: Relation to other activities in the project	
Table 2-1: List of technological advances pursued in Theme 2 and Theme 3 PhD projects, and their applicability to Theme 1 PhD projects9	



Fable 2-2: Primary species of interest for	r Theme 1 DC projects10
--	-------------------------



Executive Summary

The objective of this report is to identify and summarize the technical needs of DC projects in Theme 1 that can potentially be addressed by DC projects in Themes 2 and 3. For each new technology to be developed in Themes 2 and 3, we have described the current approaches in wildlife ecology and conservation and the limitations to these approaches. We have then laid out the tasks to be undertaken in Theme 1 that would be aided by the new technologies and, where applicable, provided information regarding the requirements of these technologies. New tools that address these requirements will be transformative not only to Theme 1 DC projects, but to drone-based wildlife ecology and conservation in general.

Keywords: fieldwork, conservation, wildlife monitoring, drone operations, animal behavior



1. Introduction

1.1. Purpose, scope, and target group

The purpose of this report is to identify the technical needs of the DC projects in Theme 1 that may be fulfilled by technologies developed by DC projects in Themes 2 and 3. This information can be used to establish collaborations between students across themes and direct Theme 2 and 3 projects to be maximally transformative for wildlife conservation end-users. The technical needs are based off of the anticipated goals and methods of Theme 1 projects, the prior field experiences of the report authors, and their reviews of the existing literature relevant to their projects. The target group for this report is WildDrones DC candidates and supervisors in Theme 2 and 3.

1.2. Contributing partners

Partner	Contribution
Syddansk Universitet	Camille Rondeau Saint-Jean - contributing ideas and use
(SDU)	cases
Max-Planck-Gesellschaft	Blair Costelloe - report writing
zur Forderung der de	Elena lannino - contributing ideas and use cases
Wissenschaften EV	
(MPG)	
WIPSEA (WIP)	Lucie Laporte-Devylder - contributing ideas and use cases
Wageningen University	Kasper Hlebowicz - contributing ideas and use cases
(WU)	

Table 1. Contribution of partners	Table	1:	Contrib	ution	of	partners
-----------------------------------	-------	----	---------	-------	----	----------

1.3. Relation to other activities in the project

Table 2: Relation to other activities in the project

Task	Description
Task 3.3	Input to Deliverable 3.3

1.4. Delays and obstacles

This report was intended to be informed by the experiences of the Theme 1 Doctoral Candidates during their initial field excursions. However, delays in permitting for wildlife research in Kenya have resulted in delays of the Kenyan fieldwork components. Thus, this report is informed by the initial fieldwork conducted in Europe by DC4 and DC8, and by



the background knowledge and expectations of all Theme 1 Doctoral Candidates established during their project development.

Additionally, the candidate originally recruited for DC2 resigned his position prior to the preparation of this report. Therefore, this report does not incorporate insights from DC2.

1.5. Potential for dissemination, exploitation, and communication activities

This report is intended to inform the directions of projects in Theme 2 and Theme 3. It is possible that objectives that are laid out here but not completed in the course of the project could be presented to the broader research community as goals for future research and development. However, the primary purpose of the report in its current form is for internal use.

1.6. Ethical and security considerations

No ethical or security issues were encountered in preparing this report.



2. Technical Requirements for Theme 2 and Theme 3 DC Projects

Below we address the potential innovations in each Theme 2 and Theme 3 DC project that would benefit Theme 1 DC projects, or other drone-based wildlife research that uses similar approaches and methodologies to Theme 1 projects. Table 2-1 lists the Theme 2 and 3 DC projects and indicates their relevance to each of the Theme 1 DC projects. Note that DC2 is not addressed in this report since re-recruitment for that position is currently underway.

	Technology	DC1	DC2	DC3	DC4	DC8
DC5	Unobtrusive noise profiles and flight	Х		Х	Х	Х
	paths					
DC6	Automated planning of multi-drone	Х		Х	Х	Х
	missions					
DC7	Flexible deployment for BVLOS	Х		Х	Х	Х
	operations					
DC13	Mutualistic drones for multi viewpoint			Х	Х	Х
	capture					
DC9	Individual detection, tracking and	Х		Х	Х	Х
	metrics					
DC10	Landscape reconstruction	Х		Х		
DC11	Interactive census	Х			Х	Х
DC12	Adaptive tracking			Х	Х	

Table 2-1: List of technological advances pursued in Theme 2 and Theme 3 PhD projects, and their applicability to Theme 1 PhD projects.

2.1. DC5 - VTOL drone noise profile optimization and its impact on animal behaviour

2.1.1. Current approach and limitations

The potential of drones to disturb animals is a key consideration surrounding the use of drones for wildlife conservation purposes. Many studies have demonstrated the potential of drones to cause disturbance, but have also identified flight parameters that avoid negative behavioural reactions. Reactions appear to be species-specific, with birds generally being more sensitive than mammals, and birds responding negatively to both the visual appearance and sound of drones and mammals appearing to be affected by the noise only (although many exceptions exist; for example, pinnipeds that are vulnerable to aerial predators may be sensitive to the visual appearance of drones) (Álvarez-González et al., 2023). However, it is difficult to predict how animals a given species will respond to drone activity given the wide range of drone appearances and



noise profiles, and our limited understanding of the auditory capabilities of most animal species (Duporge et al., 2021).

For some wildlife species, previous studies can help predict how the animals will react to drones and what flight parameters are likely to be tolerated. However, current best practice is to a) choose drone models and accessories (such as propellers) that minimize the noise produced by the drone and b) incorporate a pilot phase into any drone-based wildlife study where the reactions of the specific species and population of interest are gauged and flight parameters are adjusted to avoid negative impacts on wildlife.

2.1.2. Technical requirements for innovation

In the absence of information regarding the auditory capabilities of species of interest, developments in drone noise profiles should focus on reducing the overall noise output of drones (while maintaining sufficient noise output to avoid potential ill-use of silent or near-silent drones). Table 2-2 gives the species of interest for Theme 1 projects, along with expected flight parameters (altitude and angle from the drone to the animal) to be used in studying these species. Although DC4 will also work with humpback whales, this species is not included on the table because prior studies suggest that drones flying at least 10m above the water's surface cause little auditory disturbance to large whales (Christiansen et al., 2016).

Species	Latin name	DC	Distance	Angle(s)
			range	
Lion	Panthera leo	1, 3	20-120m	Nadir, oblique
Burchell's zebra	Equus burchelli	3, 4	30-120m	Nadir, horizontal
Impala	Aepyceros melampus	3	50-120m	Nadir
Cattle	Bos taurus	1, 3	50-100m	Nadir
Black rhinoceros	Diceros bicornis	8	50-120m	Nadir, oblique
Harbour porpoise	Phocoena phocoena	8	50-120m	Nadir
Grey seal	Halichoerus grypus	8	50-120m	Nadir, oblique

Table 2-2: Primar	y species	of interest for	⁻ Theme 1	DC	projects.
-------------------	-----------	-----------------	----------------------	----	-----------

To avoid disturbance to wildlife, automated flight operations should be responsive to negative reactions by wildlife to drones. Although some reactions may be physiological and therefore not detectable by visual means (Ditmer et al., 2015), often reactions entail behaviors indicative of stress (e.g. vigilance toward the drone), avoidance behaviors (fleeing or hiding), or aggression toward the drone (e.g. tail or fin slap). Typical reactions of each target species toward drones will be noted by each DC in Theme 1 and relayed to DC5.



2.2. DC6 - Automated planning of safe, multi-drone nature conservation missions

2.2.1. Current approach and limitations

Autonomous multi-drone missions and operations involving coordination between drones and other entities have a variety of potentially transformative applications to wildlife monitoring and conservation. Current multi-drone operations are extremely limited in wildlife conservation due to the lack of commercially-available automated solutions and the risk and challenge of manually piloting multiple drones at once. However, multiple drones have been used in a relay system to extend the duration of behavioural observations beyond the duration of a single drone battery (Koger et al., 2023), and at least one study entails flying three drones simultaneously in a triangular formation such that the cameras' fields of view overlap, allowing continuous coverage of a large ground area (Akanksha Rathore, personal communication). Wildlife Drones has developed a drone system that interfaces with on-animal tracking devices, but this system uses the drone as an elevated and mobile platform from which to locate on-animal tags and download geolocation data from tags, rather than using the on-animal geolocators to position the drone for further data (e.g. image, video) collection (Saunders et al., 2022).

2.2.2. Technical requirements for innovation

The following are generic templates of multi-drone or multi-device use cases that would be of use to Theme 1 projects.

2.2.2.1. Drone relays

Relevant DCs: 3, 4. Flying two drones in overlapping relays can enable continuous recordings of subject animals that exceed the duration of a single drone battery (Koger et al., 2023). Currently, such maneuvers are performed manually, which is inefficient and prone to human error. The manual operation described in Koger et al. (2023) proceeds as follows:

- 1) The remaining flight duration of an active drone is monitored and a replacement is deployed once the battery capacity is approximately 30%.
- 2) The replacement drone ascends to an altitude 10 meters above the active drone, and is flown to the location of the active drone.
- 3) The field of view of the replacement drone is rotated until it approximately matches the field of view of the active drone. The replacement drone's camera begins recording.
- 4) The "Return to Home" function is activated on the active drone.
- 5) The replacement drone descends 10 meters.

2.2.2.2. Extended footprint

Relevant DCs: 1, 3, 4. The spatial area captured by a drone-based camera depends on the distance between the drone and the subject. In the case of nadir recordings, this distance is the flight altitude. Operational ceilings limit the maximum permitted flight



altitude, which limits the area that can be monitored by a single camera. Many behavioural processes, e.g. predator hunting behaviour, or collective behaviours of groups of animals, occur over larger spatial scales than can be monitored by a single camera. For instance, in marine environments, tracks left on the surface of the water are transient but can potentially remain for several minutes while the animal swims away, making it difficult to keep the same animal and its tracks in the field of view of a single camera. Flying multiple drones simultaneously in configurations that allow the cameras' fields of view to overlap would allow for easier study of these phenomena with lower risk of human error than manual flying. This use case could be entirely autonomous, or one "lead" drone could be piloted manually, with peripheral drones automatically adjusting their position relative to the lead drone to maintain the degree of image overlap desired by the user.

2.2.2.3. Multi Viewpoint

See also Section 2.8.

Relevant DCs: 1, 4, 8. Many data collection activities would benefit from the ability to collect multiple viewpoints of the same subject or scene simultaneously. For example, a researcher studying groups of animals may wish to collect close-up imagery of a single individuals while continuing to record the entire group, or a researcher may wish to collect multiple orthogonal viewpoints in order to facilitate 3D reconstruction of an animal or a behavioural sequence. In some cases, multi-view requirements could be satisfied by enabling simultaneous recording by two different cameras mounted on the same drone. In other cases, two drones engaged in coordinated flight would be necessary. In the context of DC1, the simultaneous use of multiple drones would allow the study of predator-prey interactions. One drone could be deployed to detect and track a predator while supplementary coordinated drones could scan the surroundings to detect prey species and record their reactions to the predator.

2.2.2.4. GPS collar coordination

Relevant DCs: 1, 3. A major potential application of drone technologies in wildlife conservation is using drones to collect image or video data of animals fitted with geolocators ("GPS collars"). Coordination between on-animal devices and drones would facilitate repeated observations of known individuals by helping researchers efficiently locate collared animals in the field with the drone, and to facilitate tracking the animal with the drone, to ensure that the animal stays within the camera's field of view. Locating collared animals in the field can be very challenging, especially for elusive, cryptic or nocturnal species with large home ranges, such as lions. The drone's aerial position is superior to a ground-level search because VHF signals are easier to detect from above (Saunders et al., 2022), and the animals themselves may also be easier to see from an elevated position.

2.2.2.5. Field vehicle coordination

Relevant DCs: 1, 3, 4, 8. In nature conservation missions, drone operations must often be conducted from a vehicle such as a boat or truck. Dynamic coordination that accounts for the mobility of field vehicles, for example by updating the "Return to Home" location to



match the vehicle's current location, would greatly increase flexibility and safety of operations. When operating from a moving boat, erroneously initiating a Return to Home manoeuvre that would target the boat's previous (but not current) location is potentially disastrous. In both marine and terrestrial environments, dynamic coordination with field vehicles would extend the area accessible by VLOS operations, reduce risk of human error, and facilitate extended observations of highly mobile species.

2.3. DC7 - Safe BVLOS operations of drones for nature conservation

2.3.1. Current approach and limitations

Visual line of sight (VLOS) requirements can severely limit data collection for wildlife missions. For example, to maintain direct visual contact with the drone during a large-scale wildlife survey mission, researchers may need to operate the drone from within the area to be surveyed, where their presence or activity may disturb wildlife and thereby skew survey results. Maintaining VLOS with drones while filming mobile animal groups can require continuous repositioning of operators and equipment, complicating flight logistics and increasing the risk of human error or disturbance of wildlife. Also, in many environments, such as marine and coastal settings, windows of flying opportunity can be limited and unpredictable. In these settings, BVLOS operations would allow the drone to be deployed quickly from shore to monitor distant animals or large areas, without requiring that a boat be staffed and deployed in order to approach within VLOS distances.

2.3.2. Technical requirements for innovation

Safe BVLOS operations requires that drone systems be capable of detecting and responding to common hazards encountered in wildlife operations. Example hazards include attacks by large birds, encounters with manned aircraft, and sudden changes in weather conditions. Drone systems should also be equipped with features that facilitate rescue and recovery operations in case of equipment loss, to reduce data loss, environmental pollution, and hazards to humans or animals. For marine operations, it is particularly critical that the drone be able to autonomously return to the operator's current location (rather than the launch location) in the event of an emergency (see also section 2.2.2.5)

2.4. DC9 - Detecting posture, metrics and biometrics of animals from drone data

2.4.1. Current approach and limitations

A common task in wildlife conservation and ecology is assessing the identity, health, physical condition, and behaviour of individual animals. These are challenging tasks that are conventionally performed by human researchers directly observing animals in the field. There is thus significant potential for streamlining these tasks through the use of drone- and computer vision-based approaches.



Several projects have developed tools to identify individual animals from imagery using pattern or facial recognition algorithms (Berger-Wolf et al., 2017; Blount et al., 2022; Clapham et al., 2020). However, automated individual identification appears to be rarely conducted using drone imagery, despite the fact that, particularly for marine mammal species, drones are now commonly being used to capture photos used for manual individual identification (Degollada et al., 2023; Landeo-Yauri SS et al., 2020; Ryan et al., 2022).

Health and physical condition of wildlife are typically assessed based on visual characteristics of the animal, including the quality of the pelage, the degree of emaciation, and presence or number of external parasites. For marine mammals, it is increasingly common to assess size and body condition using photogrammetric analysis of drone imagery (Christiansen et al., 2019). Similar approaches are uncommon for terrestrial species.

Inferring behavioural state from imagery is a developing area of research. Posture tracking is and increasingly common approach for estimating animal pose (Graving et al., 2019; Mathis et al., 2018). In some cases, behavioural states can be inferred directly from animal postures, but very often this is not possible, because similar postures are used in many different behavioural sequences (Chen et al., 2023). Deep learning-based methods for detecting animal behavioural state without pose tracking offer some promise (Chen et al., 2023; Eric Price et al., 2023), but challenges in training these models and adapting them across species and video types have so far largely prevented their adoption.

2.4.2. Technical requirements for innovation

In Theme 1, multiple tasks will require inspection of individual animals for determining individual identification, behavioural state, and body condition. Specific tasks for each DC project are given below. In all cases, manual performance of the task is technically possible, but automation will massively reduce the amount of time and effort needed to perform the task, and thus allow much faster production of final results.

2.4.2.1. DC1

African lions and their prey will be detected in drone imagery and identified to species and, for lions, to individual if possible. Lion and prey behavioural states will also be classified from imagery. For lions, behavioural classification will be used to assess lion reactions to drone operations. Posture tracking will be used to determine head and body orientation. For prey, behavioural state will be classified from thermal imagery to characterize the prey's awareness of and response to the presence of the lion.

2.4.2.2. DC3

Plains zebras will be individually identified in drone imagery by their stripe patterns. Impala will be classified by sex (male/female) and age classes. For both species, behavioural state (vigilant/non-vigilant) will also be determined from drone imagery.



2.4.2.3. DC4

Vigilance states will be determined for plains zebras to assess their behavioural response to approaches by drones. For marine mammals, individual metrics such as species and body size will also be determined from drone imagery.

2.4.2.4. DC8

A main goal of this project is to identify individual animals from features detectable in drone imagery. The species of interest are grey seals, harbour porpoises and black rhinoceros. For harbour porpoises and seals, key features will likely be natural patterns of coloration and scarring. For black rhinoceros, features may include horn shape, scars, skin folds, ear notches, body size, and sex.

2.5. DC10 - Reconstructing natural habitats from multimodal drone measurements

2.5.1. Current approach and limitations

3D landscape reconstructions can provide valuable context for animal movement, behaviour and environmental interactions. Currently, 3D landscape models are typically created by flying a fixed-wing or multirotor drone in parallel transect paths over an area of interest, and using photogrammetry software (e.g. Pix4D) to create point clouds and triangular mesh models (Strandburg-Peshkin et al., 2017). Models can also be created from video frames directly extracted from footage collected during animal observation flights (Koger et al., 2023), but the linear nature of animal movements (and, thus, drone flight paths following animal movements) can reduce model accuracy e.g. by causing "doming" and other distortions (Tournadre et al., 2015). Even when parallel transect paths are used, the resulting imagery does not capture elements of the landscape or vegetation that are obscured, for example by tree canopies. This results in models that are distorted and unrealistic below canopy level, which is arguably the most relevant area for most terrestrial animals.

2.5.2. Technical requirements for innovation

Key directions for improvement of landscape modelling approaches depend on the ultimate application of the model. For some use cases higher quality models are needed, particularly below tree canopies or in other areas relevant to the focal animal species. This might be accomplished by incorporating low-altitude flights, re-flying of transect paths using different camera angles, or incorporating imagery collected via ground-level sensors. In other use cases, a low-resolution model is sufficient but dedicated flights to collect landscape imagery are not feasible or easy. In this case, innovation would involve incorporating image collection for landscape modelling into flight protocols for behavioural observation. For example, at the end of an observation, the drone's flight path could be planned to maximize revisits to locations along the animals' route to generate additional viewpoints. As these return flights would be longer than a straight-line flight to the launch point, the energy required for the return flight would need to be accounted for in estimates of the drone's remaining flight time.



Anticipated uses of landscape models in Theme 1 DC projects include calculating bush density; reconstructing animals' visual fields or calculating sight lines between animals and objects of interest in the environment; quantifying potential escape routes of fleeing animals; and defining accurate and fine-scale elevation models. Beyond 3D reconstruction, landscape imagery may also be used for segmentation or classification tasks such as quantifying tree species diversity and distribution or detecting networks of animal-created trails.

2.6. DC11 - Interactive census monitoring: the accurate, the generic, and the rare

2.6.1. Current approach and limitations

Aerial surveys of animal populations are a central component of wildlife management and the key means by which estimates of wildlife population sizes and trends are derived. Conventionally, these surveys are conducted from manned aircraft flying pre-determined transect routes. On board, human observers count the number of animals of each species that are visible from each side of the aircraft, sometimes also noting their distance from the aircraft's path. Image-based methods are increasingly being incorporated into census missions: rather than having human observers directly count animals in real time, researchers take photos of animal groups, or cameras mounted on the aircraft – either manned aircraft or, increasingly, unmanned aircraft – record images continuously throughout the survey flight. The use of images instead of direct human counts of animals typically increases count accuracy and allows counts to be independently validated. However, manual processing of images is typically extremely time- and resource-intensive. Therefore, there is strong interest in automating the processing of such imagery using deep learning-based detection models.

Well-trained models can detect animals in aerial survey photos very effectively, leading to more rapid and accurate estimates of population sizes. When combined with drones, which can be deployed more flexibly and inexpensively than manned aircraft, detection models have massive potential to revolutionize monitoring of wildlife populations by increasing the frequency and accuracy of wildlife censuses. However, training models to new scenarios is a major barrier to the uptake of these approaches. Generating sufficient training data for a model is time- and labour-intensive, and models trained for one application often do not generalize to other applications. Thus, models trained to detect wildlife at Conservancy A, where a particular set of animal species exist in particular relative abundances and vegetation and terrestrial substrates have a certain appearance, is unlikely to perform well at Conservancy B where these conditions differ. Furthermore, retraining a model initially trained on conditions at Conservancy A to perform well at Conservancy B will result in loss of performance on data from Conservancy A, a phenomenon known as "catastrophic forgetting".

2.6.2. Technical requirements for innovation

To promote the uptake of automated image processing methods for census applications, we need tools that significantly reduce the burden of training models to new situations,



including not just new conservancies or field sites, but also diverse conditions within a given field site (e.g. changes in vegetation appearance or landscape "greenness" due to seasonality, changes in sea state and water turbidity), or diverse image types (e.g. RGB versus thermal imagery).

Models that can extract finer-grain information (e.g. species; sex, age or reproductive classes; or even individual identities) would also be extremely useful as this information can help parameterize population models for improved predictions of future population trends.

Specific needs of DC1 are detection of large African mammalian carnivores and herbivores and classification of these animals to species, sex and age classes in both RGB and thermal imagery. Imagery will be collected across a range of habitat types, including dense and open bushland, grasslands and riverine forests.

Specific needs of DC4 are detection and classification of marine mammal species under weather and sea conditions that result in different sea colours and turbidity, where animals vary in their visibility and appearance due to their depth beneath the surface and body orientation. Challenging conditions also include imagery featuring abundant false positives (waves, sun reflection, corals, boats) and imagery where only part of the animal (fins, flukes) or indirect evidence of the animal (blow, fluke prints) are visible. Both RGB and thermal/infrared cameras will be used, so comparing ease of detection in these image types would also be of interest.

2.7. DC12 - Adaptive tracking for detection and identification

2.7.1. Current approach and limitations

Studies of wildlife behaviour or movement require the subject animal(s) to be followed and continuously recorded to capture behavioural sequences over an observation period (Koger et al., 2023). Autonomous tracking is already integrated into many commercial drone models, for example DJI's "ActiveTrack" and "Follow Me" modes. However, these are typically not useful for wildlife applications, likely because the detection models are not trained on appropriate targets. Therefore, drones are currently piloted manually to keep the subject animal(s) in frame. This includes adjusting the drone's horizontal position and/or camera angle to track the animal as it moves across the landscape, and adjusting the drone's altitude and/or camera zoom level to keep multiple focal animals in frame. Altitude adjustments are limited by the ground sampling distance (GSD) required for later processing, as well as operational limitations: increasing altitude beyond a certain point may result in too-low resolution of target animals or violate operational regulations. When multiple animals are of interest, the pilot must decide which individuals or sub-groups to follow if the group splits up or becomes too spatially dispersed to keep all animals within the video frame.

The decisions required of the drone operator and the challenges of keeping track of multiple potentially small and cryptic animals on a small display screen can result in errors and loss of data. Animals may leave the screen without the operator noticing, or the operator may be unable to keep track of a specific focal animal within a larger group and



thus not know which individual to track. Manual flight can also result in inefficient or unnecessary drone movements, which can reduce flight duration and disturb animals.

2.7.2. Technical requirements for innovation

An autonomous drone-based wildlife tracking tool must, at a minimum, be capable of consistently detecting an animal of interest and adapting its position and/or camera to keep the animal within the field of view. Often drones are deployed when animals of interest have already been detected by researchers from ground- or sea-level, but it would be useful if the drone could also undertake this initial task of finding the animals of interest. The drone's aerial viewpoint is generally superior for this task, but manually-piloted searches are inefficient. An optimal procedure would be for the researchers to launch the drone in a "search mode", in which the drone would systematically search the surrounding area for potential tracking targets. Upon locating a potential target, the drone would seek confirmation from the researcher that the target is suitable and, if confirmed, enter a "tracking mode" to maintain the target in the camera's field of view.

In cases where multiple potential targets are detected, the tool should be a) responsive to real-time user input (e.g. the user clicking on the desired target on the controller's display) to identify the desired target and/or b) programmed to make decisions about which target to track or prioritize. Programmed decision rules could be established prior to flight, for example by the user designating a species of interest (e.g. "follow zebras") or rank species in order of priority (e.g. "follow lions and maximize the number of zebras in view where possible, but when the zebras run away stay with the lions"). These decision rules would require that the drone's software be able to distinguish between different animal species. In cases where a group of animals is the subject of interest, decision rules might dictate that the drone maintain as many animals as possible in the field of view, such that if the group splits up, the drone follows the larger sub-group.

Automated tracking decisions should also adhere to user-defined limitations. For example, a drone can increase its field of view by increasing its altitude or distance from the subject, but unless limits are imposed this could result in the drone ascending beyond permitted operational altitudes or capturing imagery in which the animals are too small for further analysis.

In both terrestrial and marine environments, animals of interest often become temporarily occluded during filming. For example, terrestrial animals pass under trees, and marine mammals submerge between breathing events. It is important that a tracking tool be robust to such temporary occlusions. At a minimum this would mean the drone should maintain its position for some time while waiting for the animal to re-appear. A more advanced solution would predict the animal's location based on its prior trajectory and proactively adjust the drone's position to resume tracking once the animal reappears.

An important consideration in using drones to study wildlife is ensuring that the drones do not disturb or elicit unwanted behavioural responses from the animals (Bennitt et al., 2019; Ditmer et al., 2015). An autonomous tracking tool would thus ideally be responsive to the behavioural state of the animal and adjust its flight path or behaviour accordingly. For example, if animals flee from the drone they should generally not be pursued as this



can cause unnecessary stress and negative impacts on the animals. In the case of behavioural studies, subtler responses, such as increased frequency of vigilance scans, may have negligible negative impacts on the animals themselves, but can bias behavioural data. Tools that reliably recognize unwanted reactions and dynamically adjust or abort missions in response would be desirable.

2.8. DC13 - Mutualistic drones for multi-viewpoint capture

2.8.1. Current approach and limitations

Obtaining multiple viewpoints of the same animals or scene has many valuable applications for wildlife conservation. Multiple viewpoints can potentially increase count and species-identification accuracy in wildlife census missions, facilitate 3D reconstruction of individuals or landscapes, or allow collection of fine-scale ("zoomed in") data simultaneously with broader-scale ("wide angle") contextual data. Current solutions for obtaining multiple simultaneous viewpoints require the use of multiple manually piloted drones. As such, we are not aware of any use of multiple viewpoints in wildlife ecology to date, beyond flying multiple drones in sequential overlapping "relays" to extend continuous observation time beyond the duration of a single battery (Koger et al., 2023).

2.8.2. Technical requirements for innovation

Potential applications of a multi-viewpoint system in Theme 1 DC projects are as follows:

2.8.2.1. DC1

A system of two coordinated drones would be useful for observing foraging lions or other predators: one drone could follow the focal predator, and the other drone could perform systematic survey flights to capture information on prey animals present in the surrounding area.

2.8.2.2. DC3

Multiple viewpoints could allow for concurrent observations of predators and prey during hunts, with one drone following the predator and additional drones following potential prey. Additionally, in observations of zebras and other herbivores, simultaneous wide-angle and zoomed in views would allow for the identification of individual animals from close-up imagery without sacrificing video observations of the entire herd.

2.8.2.3. DC4

Multiple viewpoints would enable the collection of a visual dataset that would enable 3D reconstruction of animal vigilance postures. In marine mammal monitoring, there is a strong interest in combining large-scale detection and behavioural observations from high altitudes or long distances with simultaneous close-up side view of focal animals for identification based on dorsal fin or fluke characteristics.



2.8.2.4. DC8

Multiple viewpoints are critical for individual identification where photos from multiple angles are necessary to capture characteristics of interest. In marine and terrestrial environments, combining wide-angle views for detection and zoomed-in views for individual identification would greatly facilitate the monitoring of wild animals on an individual scale.



3. Conclusions

This report gives the technical requirements for new drone and computer visions technologies for wildlife conservation applications. The report focuses on the needs of the DC projects in Theme 1, but given the diversity of approaches in Theme 1, the potential developments described here will also significantly advance drone-based conservation approaches as a whole.



4. References

- Álvarez-González, M., Suarez-Bregua, P., Pierce, G. J., & Saavedra, C. (2023). Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) in marine mammal research: A review of current applications and challenges. *Drones*, 7, 667.
- Bennitt, E., Bartlam-Brooks, H. L. A., Hubel, T. Y., & Wilson, A. M. (2019). Terrestrial mammalian wildlife responses to Unmanned Aerial Systems approaches. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-38610-x
- Berger-Wolf, T. Y., Rubenstein, D. I., Stewart, C. V., Holmberg, J. A., Parham, J., Menon, S., Crall, J. P., Oast, J. V., Kiciman, E., & Joppa, L. (2017). Wildbook: Crowdsourcing, computer vision, and data science for conservation. *CoRR*, *abs/1710.08880*. http://arxiv.org/abs/1710.08880
- Blount, D., Gero, S., Van Oast, J., Parham, J., Kingen, C., Scheiner, B., Stere, T., Fisher, M., Minton, G., Khan, C., Dulau, V., Thompson, J., Moskvyak, O., Berger-Wolf, T., Stewart, C. V., Holmberg, J., & Levenson, J. J. (2022). Flukebook: An open-source Al platform for cetacean photo identification. *Mammalian Biology*, 102(3), 1005– 1023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42991-021-00221-3
- Chen, J., Hu, M., Coker, D. J., Berumen, M. L., Costelloe, B., Beery, S., Rohrbach, A., & Elhoseiny, M. (2023). MammalNet: A Large-Scale Video Benchmark for Mammal Recognition and Behavior Understanding. *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, 13052-13061.
- Christiansen, F., Rojano-Doñate, L., Madsen, P. T., & Bejder, L. (2016). Noise levels of multi-rotor unmanned aerial vehicles with implications for potential underwater impacts on marine mammals. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00277
- Christiansen, F., Sironi, M., Moore, M. J., Di Martino, M., Ricciardi, M., Warick, H. A., Irschick, D. J., Gutierrez, R., & Uhart, M. M. (2019). Estimating body mass of freeliving whales using aerial photogrammetry and 3D volumetrics. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 10(12), 2034-2044. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13298
- Clapham, M., Miller, E., Nguyen, M., & Darimont, C. T. (2020). Automated facial recognition for wildlife that lack unique markings: A deep learning approach for brown bears. *Ecology and Evolution*, *10*(23), 12883-12892. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6840
- Degollada, E., Amigó, N., O'Callaghan, S. A., Varola, M., Ruggero, K., & Tort, B. (2023). A Novel Technique for Photo-Identification of the Fin Whale, Balaenoptera physalus, as Determined by Drone Aerial Images. *Drones*, 7(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/drones7030220



- Ditmer, M. A., Vincent, J. B., Werden, L. K., Tanner, J. C., Laske, T. G., laizzo, P. A., Garshelis, D. L., & Fieberg, J. R. (2015). Bears show a physiological but limited behavioral response to unmanned aerial vehicles. *Current Biology*, 25(17), 2278-2283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.07.024
- Duporge, I., Spiegel, M. P., Thomson, E. R., Chapman, T., Lamberth, C., Pond, C., Macdonald, D. W., Wang, T., & Klinck, H. (2021). Determination of optimal flight altitude to minimise acoustic drone disturbance to wildlife using species audiograms. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 12(11), 2196-2207. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13691
- Eric Price, Pranav C. Khandelwal, Daniel I. Rubenstein, & Aamir Ahmad. (2023). A Framework for Fast, Large-scale, Semi-Automatic Inference of Animal Behavior from Monocular Videos. *bioRxiv*, 2023.07.31.551177. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.31.551177
- Graving, J. M., Chae, D., Naik, H., Li, L., Koger, B., Costelloe, B. R., & Couzin, I. D. (2019). DeepPoseKit, a software toolkit for fast and robust animal pose estimation using deep learning. *eLife*, 8, e47994. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.47994
- Koger, B., Deshpande, A., Kerby, J. T., Graving, J. M., Costelloe, B. R., & Couzin, I. D. (2023). Quantifying the movement, behaviour and environmental context of group-living animals using drones and computer vision. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 1365-2656.13904. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13904
- Landeo-Yauri SS, Ramos EA, Castelblanco-Martínez DN, Niño-Torres CA, & Searle L. (2020). Using small drones to photo-identify Antillean manatees: A novel method for monitoring an endangered marine mammal in the Caribbean Sea. *Endangered Species Research*, 41, 79-90.
- Mathis, A., Mamidanna, P., Cury, K. M., Abe, T., Murthy, V. N., Mathis, M. W., & Bethge, M. (2018). DeepLabCut: Markerless pose estimation of user-defined body parts with deep learning. *Nature Neuroscience*, 21(9), 1281-1289. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0209-y
- Ryan, K. P., Ferguson, S. H., Koski, W. R., Young, B. G., Roth, J. D., & Watt, C. A. (2022). Use of drones for the creation and development of a photographic identification catalogue for an endangered whale population. *Arctic Science*, 8(4), 1191-1201. https://doi.org/10.1139/as-2021-0047
- Saunders, D., Nguyen, H., Cowen, S., Magrath, M., Marsh, K., Bell, S., & Bobruk, J. (2022). Radio-tracking wildlife with drones: A viewshed analysis quantifying survey coverage across diverse landscapes. *Wildlife Research*, 49(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1071/WR21033
- Strandburg-Peshkin, A., Farine, D. R., Crofoot, M. C., & Couzin, I. D. (2017). Habitat and social factors shape individual decisions and emergent group structure during baboon collective movement. *eLife*, 6, e19505. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.19505



WildDrone is an MSCA Doctoral Network funded by the European Union's Horizon Europe research and innovation funding programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no. 101071224.

Tournadre, V., Pierrot-Deseilligny, M., & Faure, P. H. (2015). UAV LINEAR PHOTOGRAMMETRY. The International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, XL-3/W3, 327-333. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprsarchives-XL-3-W3-327-2015

